IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 68,550

DUANE EUGENE OWEN,

Appellant/Defendant,

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SALNICK and KRISCHER Airport Centre, Suite 102 100 Australian Avenue West Palm Beach, FL 33406 Telephone: (305) 471-1000

BARRY E. KRISCHER, ESQUIRE

Fla. Bar No. 168534

MICHAEL SALNICK, ESQUIRE

Fla. Bar No. 270962

THEODORE S. BOORAS, ESQUIRE

Fla. Bar No. 569763

REOUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

The undersigned counsel for Appellant respectfully request that this Honorable Court hear oral argument for the issues herein raised.

Respectfully submitted,

BARRY E. KRISCHER, ESQUIRE

MICHAEL SALNICK, ESQUIRE

THEODORE S BOORAS, ESOURE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida.

In this brief, the Appellant will be referred to as he appears before this Honorable Court, and Appellee will be referred to as the State.

The symbol "R" will be used to designate the record on appeal.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO COUNT II OF THE INDICTMENT?
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING
 THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS APPELLANT'S CONFESSION?
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF A STATE WITNESS WAS LIMITED IN SCOPE AS TO OTHER SUSPECTS IN THE CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION?
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY RESERVING RULING ON APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF ACQUITTAL AT THE CLOSE OF THE STATE'S CASE?
 - V. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING MEMBERS OF THE VICTIM'S FAMILY TO TESTIFY PRIOR TO PRONOUNCEMENT OF SENTENCE?
- VI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO DEATH BASED ON INVALID AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES?

- VII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO CROSS-EXAMINE DR. PETERSON AS TO HIS CONTACT WITH ANOTHER DEFENDANT?
- VIII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY IMPOSING THE DEATH PENALTY WITHOUT REGARD TO APPELLANT'S MENTAL ILLNESS?
 - IX. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE VICTIM'S MOTHER TO TESTIFY BEFORE THE JURY?
 - X. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING ALL DEATH PENALTY MOTIONS OF APPELLANT?
 - XI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE PRECLUSION OF DEATH QUALIFICATIONS OF JURORS AND A BIFURCATED JURY?
 - XII. WHETHERTHE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO GIVE THE REQUESTED PHASE II JURY INSTRUCTION?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The relevant facts are as follows: On March 24, 1984, Karen Slattery was found dead at 12:14 A.M. in the master bedroom of a residence in Delray Beach, Florida. The State offered testimony that Ms. Slattery died in the eating room of the residence, where a large pool of blood was located. (R. 2692). The facts further revealed that her body was dragged to the master bedroom, at which time insemination occurred. The victim was already deceased when the sexual intercourse occurred, based upon the State's own Medical Examiner who testified that:

"I believe in all probability Karen Slattery was dead by the time she was relocated to the back room." (R. 2693). Although she was deceased at the time of the insemination, Appellant was still indicted under Count II of Sexual Battery upon a "person", and was convicted. Appellant was then sentenced to life imprisonment for that offense.

On May 29, 1984, the Boca Raton Police Department issued a B.O.L.O. or flier for the Appellant, DUANE OWEN, after his picture was identified from a photo line-up. The following day, on May 30, 1984, Officer K. Petracco from the Boca Raton Police stopped Appellant who was walking down the street at 12:30 P.M. The officer justified the stop by stating that he "generally fit the description of the picture I had." (R. 633). Upon the approach of the marked patrol car, Appellant did not attempt to flee, and when requested to produce identification, he exibited a driver's license. He was then arrested at the scene and has been in custody ever since.

Appellant was then transported to the Boca Raton Police station, and after a substantial delay during which Lt. K.

McCoy interrogated him, he was transported to the Palm Beach
County Jail. On June 1, 1984, Sgt. M. Woods from the Delray
Beach Police Department, along with Lt. McCoy of Boca, traveled
to the county jail to interrogate the Appellant covering both
the capital and non-capital cases that they hoped the Appellant
would clear. This interrogation lasted from 3:55 P.M. until
10:45 P.M. Neither officer brought a tape recorder, nor did

they make any attempt to record this interrogation even though they had the Appellant in a room at the jail that was set up for video taping, and which they subsequently used to record in excess of twenty (20) hours of interrogation with Appellant. Both Detectives admitted during their respective depositions that there was no technical or other reason that the session was not recorded, but rather it was a conscious decision on their part not to make any effort to preserve that interview with Appellant. Notwithstanding the length of that interrogation, Lt. McCoy generated a hand written account of their interrogation complete with statements in quotations.

Over the next three weeks, various investigators from both Boca Raton and Delray Beach went to the Palm Beach County Jail to interrogate Appellant on video tape in excess of twenty (20) hours, as follows:

```
June 3, 1984: 5:00 P.M. - 11:30 P.M.

June 6, 1984: 11:15 A.M. - 4:20 P.M.

June 7, 1984: 6:00 P.M. - 10:55 P.M.

June 8, 1984: 1:45 P.M. - 4:00 P.M.

June 18, 1984: 4:30 P.M. - 9:10 P.M.

June 21, 1984: Approximately five (5) hours
```

During these interviews, as a review of the video tapes themselves would confirm, various interrogation techniques were utilized, including but not limited to, "the false friend", "Mutt and Jeff", and misstatements of the law so as to mislead, deceive, and delude Appellant as to his true position. In total, Appellant was interrogated in excess of seventy-two (72) hours. The consequence of these lengthy interrogation sessions, the interrogation

techniques utilized $_{r}$ and the totality of the circumstances resulted in the Appellant making statements which lead to his indictment and conviction of Karen Slattery.

During the interrogation reference the instant appeal which occurred at the latter portion of the seventy-two (72) hour ordeal the Appellant twice indicated that he no longer wished to discuss the case any further with the police:

APPELLANT: I rather not talk about

it. (R. 3000)

APPELLANT: I don't want to talk

about it. (R. 3018)

Appellant's expressed Fifth Amendment assertion fell on deaf ears as was evident by law enforcement's continued interrogation.

During the trial, the State called Detective Pelligrini,

a lead investigator in the instant cause. During the cross-examiniation
of this witness, counsel for Appellant attempted to elicit
information concerning similarities between the Appellant's
case and another investigation. (R. 2471). After a State objection,
trial counsel proffered the testimony which would have established
that this officer made observations at another crime scene
which were similar to the instant crime scene but involved
a different suspect. After the objection was sustained, counsel
for Appellant advised the court that no effective cross-examination
of the witness could be conducted and the Appellant's theory
of defense had been stripped.

Additionally during the State's case in chief, the trial

court, over vigorous defense objection allowed the victim's mother to testify before the jury on matters which were grossly prejudicial and totally irrelevant to the issues presented.

At the close of the State's case, the counsel for Appellant made a Motion for Judgement of Acquittal as to Count II, Sexual Battery. Even though the prosecutor advised the court that it was error to reserve ruling on such a motion, the judge, when confronted with controlling precedent from this Honorable Court, violated Florida law and reserved ruling anyway. The record is unclear as to when if ever the lower court ever ruled on the motion. The prosecutor cited the controlling case of Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741 (Fla. 1982), to the judge, but this likewise fell upon deaf ears.

During the Phase II proceedings, the trial court allowed, over defense objection, the State to cross-examine Dr. Peterson, the court appointed expert designated to examine and evaluate the Appellant, reference an interview between him and Ontra Jones. (R. 3810-14). It was established by the prosecutor that Ontra Jones was also charged with a separate capital murder and was represented by one of Appellant's trial attorneys, Barry Krischer, Esquire.

During the charge conference counsel for Appellant requested a jury instruction which had been approved by other circuit judges, that would not leave the jury with the impermissable impression that their activities were meaningless. This special defense requested jury instruction was denied by the trial

court.

After the rendition of the jury's eleven to one (11-1) recommendation, but prior to pronouncement of sentence, the trial court, now the sentencing court, solicited statements from the victim's family to "advise" the court as to what sentence to impose. (R. 3697, 4056-65).

On October 18, 1985, the jury returned a verdict of guilty for First Degree Murder (Count I), Sexual Battery (Count II), and Burglary (Count 111). On November 7, 1985, the jury returned a vote of eleven to one (11-1), recommending the death penalty. On March 13, 1986, the trial court sentenced the Appellant to death in Florida's electric chair, thus giving rise to this instant Appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

From the moment of his arrest through the pronouncement of the sentence, the Appellant, DUANE EUGENE OWEN, was denied a fair trial in violation of Due Process. After his arrest, the Appellant was interrogated for approximately seventy—two (72) hours. During the latter portion of this interrogation, the Appellant gave in to the coercive techniques utilized by police and began giving statements reference the instant case. However, prior to actually making the statement, the Appellant indicated that he no longer wished to discuss the case any further with the police. (R. 3000). The Appellant again, during the statement, expressed his desire to remain silent. (R. 3018).

Both of Appellant's requests were ignored by police as indicated by their continued questioning. The statements thereafter obtained by the police from the Appellant were taken in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution as interpreted by the Supreme Court in Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), and Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 289 (1980).

The statements are further tainted by the unlawful stop and seizure of the Appellant, who was stopped while walking down the sidewalk at 12:35 P.M. because he looked similar to a photograph possesed by the police. The Appellant did not attempt to flee, and when requested, he produced identification. In Brown v. Texas, 443, U.S. 47 (1979), the Supreme Court ruled that stopping a person to obtain identification is a seizure as defined in the Fourth Amendment. Based upon nothing more, the instant seizure of the Appellant was unlawful, thus any and all statements which resulted were subject to suppression.

An additional ground for suppressing the Appellant's statement was the obvious psychological coercion utilized by the police.

Throughout the recorded sessions there are numerous instances where law enforcement attempts to communicate to the Appellant that by confessing he will have more control over his future, than by remaining mute. Further, that by confessing he will be able to take his future into his own hands, rather than placing it in the hands of the jury. Additionally, these tapes depict various promises made to the Appellant in return for

cooperation including but not limited to, bringing his brother to the next interrogation session for consultation with the Appellant as well as a contact visit; something not authorized or permitted to other pre-trial detainees. Police trickery and deception in obtaining confessions are common techniques but ones which have long been criticized by the Supreme Court. In Miranda v. Arizona, supra, the Court stated:

Again we stress that the modern practice of in-custody interrogation is psychologically rather than physically oriented... This Court has recognized that coercion can be mental as well as physical, and that the blood of the accused is not the only hallmark of an unconstitutional inquisition.

The Court then goes on to outline those psychologically oriented tactics utilized by law enforcement to acquire confessions. The Court utilizes the very text books written by police officers, for police officers to instruct them on the utilization of psychological coercion to break through a defendant's normal defenses to acquire a confession. In particular, the Court criticized such techniques as the "Mutt-and-Jeff" interrogation, in which a supposedly sympathetic interrogator promises to protect the suspect from a hostile interrogator if the suspect will only cooperate. Officers McCoy and Livingston utilize this technique throughout the interrogations taking place over numerous days and hours. But the most pointed example can be found on tape #5, at the end of the session where Livingston

tells the Appellant that he owes it to McCoy to confess, and McCoy tells the Appellant that Livingston thinks he is wasting his time on the Appellant, but he, McCoy doesn't feel that way. It is the overall effect of the long and constant interrogation sessions that make the statements provided by the Appellant inadmissible.

In a similar vein, some forms of police trickery involve falsely taking the side of the suspect, convincing him that the interrogator is a friend and really has the suspect's best interest in mind. McCoy's approach to the Appellant as it developed over the various interrogation sessions are a text book example of this technique in action. The Court has found that confessions under these circumstances to be involuntary.

The Appellant was charged and convicted, under Count II of the instant Indictment, of Sexual Battery upon a "person". The evidence produced during the trial clearly indicated that the "person" was dead at the time of the sexual battery. Since the sexual battery was committed against a corpse rather than a person, no violation of F.S. 794.011 (3), was committed since this statute requires the victim to be a person.

The Medical Examiner, Dr. Hobin, testified that Karen Slattery died in the eating room near the larger pool of blood. The doctor further testified that there were no traces of semen in the pool of blood and that the insemination occurred in the master bedroom. Dr. Hobin concluded his testimony by stating that, "I believe in all probability Karen Slattery was dead

by the time she vas relocated to the back room." (R. 2693).

Two Florida Courts have ruled that sexual battery can not be committed against a corpse. McCrae v. Wainwright, 439

So.2d 868 (Fla. 1983); and, McCrae v. Wainwright, 439

So.2d 868 (Fla. 1983); and, McCall v. State, 503 So.2d 306

(Fla. 5th D.C.A. 1987). Additionally, Pennsylvania, California, Maryland, and the Court of Military Appeals have held that, as a matter of law, in order to support a conviction of sexual battery or rape, the victim must be <a href="mailto:alive:aliv

The trial court denied Appellant's Motion for Judgement of Acquittal for the Sexual Battery Count even after being confronted with this Court's decision in McCrae v. Wainwright, supra. It becomes obvious that the Appellant was denied a fair trial at this point in violation of Due Process because of the gross prejudicial effect of the jury deliberating on the murder issue along with a count which should have been dismissed.

The error was further magnified when the State was allowed to argue in aggravation to both the jury and the sentencing judge the aggravating circumstance of sexual battery, which as a matter of law, never occurred.

During the trial, the Appellant was denied his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense when the trial court prohibited the cross-examination of Detective Pelligrini, a State witness, reference evidence which would lead to another suspect. This

ruling violates over seventy (70) years of precedent which holds that "one accused of a crime may show his innocence by proof of the guilt of another." <u>Pahl v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 42 (Fla. 2d D.C.A. 1982); cited therein, <u>Lindsay v. State</u>, 69 Fla. 641 (1915); et al.

At the close of the State's case, the trial court reserved ruling on the Appellant's Motion for Judgement of Acquittal for the Sexual Battery count, even though the prosecutor cited this court's holding in Hitchcock v. State, 413 So.2d 741 (Fla. 1982), that it is error to reserve ruling on a defendant's Motion for Judgement of Acquittal. The trial judge placed the Appellant in the impossible position as to whether to testify in his behalf on the pending counts while at the same time exercise his constitutional right to remain silent on the sexual battery count. The Appellant's right to testify was hindered by the trial judge's violation of Florida precedent, thus Due Process mandates a new trial.

The trial court committed further reversible error by allowing the victim's mother to testify to the jury during the guilt phase, and by allowing the victim's father to testify to the sentencing judge during Phase II but prior to pronouncement of sentence. This form of victim impact statement violates the Eighth Amendment as it has been recently interpreted by the Supreme Court in <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>, 55 U.S.L.W. 4836 (June 16, 1987). The <u>Booth</u> Court held that this form of testimony

improperly shifted the focal point from the accused to the victim and creates a constitutionally impermissible risk that the death sentences will be made in an arbitrary manner. Eighth Amendment was additionally violated when a defense requested Phase II jury instruction was denied by the trial court. requested instruction would have informed the jury that their decision or verdict was not meaningless, but rather, that the court could not override a verdict of life unless said court found that there existed no reasonable basis for the verdict. Instead, the trial court did down play the jury's role by telling them not less than twelve times that their recommendation was nothing more than an advisory sentence. The judge went further by instructing the jury that the final decision as to what punishment to impose shall rest with the judge. (R. 4041). These comments by the court are directly in conflict with three controlling cases which have interpreted this very issue and ruled that in each case the Eighth Amendment was violated. Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985); Mann v. Dugger, 817 F.2d 1471 (11th Cir. 1987); and Adams v. Wainwright, 804 F.2d 1526 (11th Cir. 1986).

The trial court sentenced the Appellant to die in Florida's electric chair based upon four invalid aggravating circumstances, while still finding mitigating circumstances. The Appellant was sentenced to death based upon sexual battery, which as a matter of law and previously addressed, did not occur. Next, the Appellant was sentenced to death because the offense was committed to avoid lawful arrest. The law in Florida can be

that the death was result of avoiding arrest. Hansbrough v.

State, 12 F.L.W. 307 (Fla. June 26, 1987). And when the victim is not a police officer, it must be clearly shown that the dominant or only motive for the murder was to eliminate the witness in order to avoid arrest. The facts of the instant Appeal do not even remotely established this factor, and as such it is an invalid aggravating circumstance.

In light of the foregoing, not only must the Appellant's sentence be vacated, but additionally, the conviction and judgement must be set aside with directions for a fair trial within the bounds of Due Process, and a new impartial trial judge.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING
APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGEMENT OF
ACQUITTAL AS TO COUNT II OF THE INDICTMENT

Appellant was charged and convicted, under Count II of the Indictment, of sexual battery upon a "person". After the State rested its case in chief, the Appellant made a Motion For Judgement of Acquittal pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P., Rule 3.380(a). (R. 3289). The foundation for the Motion was that the evidence introduced during trial clearly indicated that the "person" was dead at the time of the sexual battery; thus, sexual battery was not committed against "a person" but rather a corpse. As such, the Appellant would maintain that no violation of F.S. 794.011(3), was ever committed since this statute requires the victim to be "a person". F.S. 794.011(1)(i).

A. At the time of the sexual battery the victim was already deceased.

For over sixty years the law in Florida has been clear that the version of events as related by the defense must be believed if the circumstances do not show that version to be false. McArthur v. Stater 351 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1977); Mayo v. State, 71 So.2d 899 (Fla. 1954); Holton v. State, 87 Fla. 65, 99 So. 244 (1924); and Flower v. Stater 492 So.2d 1344, (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1986), see also, Jenkins v. Stater 120 Fla.

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