DUANE EUGENE OWEN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 68,550

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.



FEB 22 1968

CLERK, SUPLEME DOURT

By\_\_\_\_\_ Deputy Clerk\_.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

##

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

## a. <u>Protracted Interrogations</u>

Appellant argues the record shows "psychological coercion employed by the police in the instant appeal [by] the format and the length of the interrogations.'' (AB 35). These allegations are totally without merit.

The record shows that Appellant was read his constitutional rights every time a conversation was begun. This is true, even after dinner breaks, when the conversations were resumed. For example, on June 21, 1984, the day Appellant confessed to the

-51-

instant case, the <u>Miranda</u> rights were read to Appellant on four (4) different and separate occasions (ST 969-970, 977-978, 1039-1041, 1175-1176). Appellant always acknowledged he understood his rights, and asserted clearly he was willing to talk with the officers. The record also makes it very clear, the conversations held after the initial interrogation on the date of his arrest, were at the insistance of Appellant. Appellant invited the officers to talk to him, and the officers testified Appellant enjoyed "matching wits" with them.

The United States Supreme Court declined to find coercion in cases involving twelve hours of interrogation, see Stein v. New York, 346 U.S. 156, 185-86, 73 S.Ct, 1077, 97 L.Ed.2d 1522 (1953). Likewise, Appellant's allegations have been rejected by this Court. In Roberts v. State, 164 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1964), the defendant was arrested at 6:00 p.m. and was interrogated beginning at 6:30 and continued intermittently until 1:30 the next morning. This Court found that the fact of the a.m. long hours of interrogation would not destroy the validity of the confession if it was otherwise freely and voluntarily given. In Harris v. State, 162 So.2d 262 (Fla. 1964), the defendant was questioned intermittently from 10:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m., yet this Court again found no evidence of coercion and held the confession was freely and voluntarily made. Then in Dawson v. State, 139 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1962), this Court again rejected the contention the confession was not voluntary because it was obtained only

-52-

after a long and protracted interrogation. The court ruled that a confession is not vitiated by the fact that it was made while in custody after interrogation, provided the questions was orderly and properly conducted. Id. 411. See Also, <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 22 So.2d 821, 823 (Fla. 1945).

The record herein clearly shows, Appellant was read his rights, and he waived his right to remain silent. The conversations took place between his arrest on May 30, 1984, and June 21, 1984. Thus, the 20 hours of conversations were spread over 23 days taking place on eight different dates. The transcript of the tapes clearly show Appellant was provided food, drinks, and allowed to use the bathroom as needed. The conversations did not last for longer than five hours at a time, and there were constant breaks. Appellant did not allege, and the videotapes do not show any evidence of either mental or physical abuse of Appellant. This allegation is without merit.

# b. Feigned Empathy

Appellant alleges that by acting friendly towards Appellant and flattering him, the police distorted Appellant's perception of his right to remain silent. The record is clear whatever kindness was shown to Appellant by the police officers did not rise to the level of improper influence which would nullify the voluntariness of his confession. <u>Oats v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 90, 93 (Fla. 1984). Here there was no evidence of threats,

-53-

promises, or other improper influences. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1984). As stated in <u>Barnason v. State</u>, 371 So.2d 680 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979):

> This contention is founded essentially the fact that the methods of upon interrogation used by the officer, involving any of the although not forbidden elements of force, promise or threat, were **so** psychologically effective as to break down Barnason's will and produce the confession. The adoption of this argument would, in effect, render inadmissible everv statement by a defendant while under police questioning, as the product of a degree of coercion which is inherent in every such situation. In common with every other court which has considered such a claim, we reject this view. See Paulk v. State, 211 \$0,2d 591 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968); Ebert v. State, 140 So.2d 63 (Fla.2d DCA 1962), and cases cited. In a case such as this one, in which a mentally competent and aware defendant been given appropriate Miranda has warnings and has not been placed in "fear of material or physical harm, or [given] hope of material reward . . " Denmark v. State, 95 Fla. 757, 762, 116 SO. 757, 759 (1928), his voluntary confession may properly be admitted into evidence.

> > The officer, 3. Fernandez, employed what he called the "agitation and stroking" technique of questioning Barnason in which interrogator picks at the the suspect's psychological weaknesses and insecurities and at the same time seeks to reassure him with protestations of personal friendship and confidence. We see no constitutional reason for the disapproval of this technique, or any other, merely because it

proves to be successful in securing a confession.

Id. 681. See also, Chaney v. Wainwright, 561 F.2d 1129, 1132
(5th Cir. 1977), Puccio v. State, 440 So.2d 419, 421-422 (Fla.
1st DCA 1983); State v. Caballero, 396 So.2d 1210, 1213-1214
(Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

#### c. Format of the Interrogation

Appellant asserts the transcript of the record on appeal goes on for pages without Appellant ever saying a word, and that this shows prejudicial and constitutionally impermissible tactics (AB 36). Again these allegations are without merit.

Under the totality of the circumstances, it is clear that Appellant summoned the police to talk to him. The videotapes clearly show proper investigative tactics used by the officer which at no point over stepped its bounds. This argument was not presented to the trial court, thus it is not preserved for appeal. However, and in any event, these allegations do not support a reversal of the trial court's finding of voluntariness of the confession. <u>Barnason</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Puccio</u>, <u>supra</u>.

A review of the totality of the tapes makes it abundantly clear, and supports the trial court's conclusion, that Appellant did not feel coerced into talking. Appellant summoned the officers to talk to him. He was interested in obtaining information as to how the investigation into his cases was

-55-

progressing. He wanted to see whether he could obtain a favorable "deal" from the officers or Paul Moyle. If one looks at the videotapes themselves, it is apparent Appellant is not silent in an effort to avoid the questions being propounded of Rather Appellant, very calculative, is sizing up the him. officers, considering his knowledge, making mental notes and checking up on the information he is being provided by the officers. This is obvious from the tapes: During the conversation of June 7, 1984, Appellant called McCoy because he wanted "to kind of solve a few things here and there." (ST He told McCoy he would like to "start in the front and 429). work our way up. ...like a ladder,"(ST 430). In this sense Appellant decided what cases he would talk about, leaving the more serious cases for last or until the officers could prove to him they "had him." Appellant made his point clear on the June 8, 1984 conversation: when asked whether he committed the Worden homicide, he answered he "couldn't answer that," and explained the difference between "won't" and "can't" by stating "Well, if you won't, that would be like, uh, you just strictly refuse. Ιf you can't, that means maybe you ain't **so** sure." (ST 896). During the same conversation, when asked about his habit of attacking women while in their sleep, Appellant states, "I can't answer that one either." (ST 941).

Appellant advised the officers he knew the law, and that he had law books that told him the sentences he could be

-56-

facing on the different crimes (ST 932-935). Appellant told the police he knew in addition to the Worden murder, he would probably be facing a second murder charge in the future (ST 901, 934). Under the totality of the circumstances, it is clear Appellant acknowledged he knew what he was doing, and that he was the one that brought up the idea on June 8, that "if you're up on a murder charge, man, what the hell's another one." (ST 935). The effect of any one statement by Appellant cannot be considered by itself, but in the totality of the 20 hours of conversation as the officers were confronted with, and the trial judge based his rulings on.

# d. <u>Use of Promises</u>

Appellant alleges the police used his brother as a bargaining position, and equate the "promises" <u>sub judice</u> to the promises made in <u>Lynumm v. Illinois</u>, 372 U.S. 528, 83 S.Ct. 917, 9 L.Ed.2d 922 (1963), and threats used in <u>Rogers v. Richmond</u>, 365 U.S. 534, 81 S.Ct. 735, 5 L.Ed.2d 760 (1961), <u>U.S. v. Tingle</u>, 658 F.2d 1332 (9th Cir. 1981), and <u>Nebraska v. Smith</u>, 277 N.W. 2d 441 (Neb. 1979). (See ASB 6-8). The record is abundantly clear that the officers did not make any promises to Appellant, nor did they use his brother as a bargaining chip. Once again, this argument was not raised before the trial court, therefore, it is not preserved for appellate review.

From a review of the entire transcript of the videotaped conversations and the motion to suppress, it is clear, the

-57-

officers were willing to drive Mitchell Owen up to see Appellant whenever he requested. However, it is also clear they did not say he could only talk to Mitchell after he confessed. It is noteworthy, that near the end of the conversations of June 7, 1984 when Appellant suggested McCoy and he made a bargain that if McCoy brought up Marc Woods and his brother, then Appellant would talk, McCoy in no uncertain terms corrected Appellant by saying "No, we didn't make a bargain." (ST 640). The next day, June 8, 1984, McCoy did go visit Appellant, but only after Appellant called to make sure they were coming to see him (ST 892). The quotations reproduced by Appellant occurred during the conversations of June 8, 1984, where Appellant still did not confess to any homicide. Additionally, there were no conversations between the 8th and the 18th. The conversation of the 18th took place yet no confession of the murder was forthcoming. Appellant did not confess to the Slattery Homicide until June 21, 1984, after he had been arrested on the Worden homicide. His decision to confess was not dependent on any promises by the officers to bring his brother to see him. Even if the remarks may be considered as containing "promises" to Appellant, it was not made as a means of inducing or in return for the confession. See, State v. Beck, 390 So.2d 748, 749 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

The record herein supports the finding that no promises were made to Appellant, as such the confession was properly admitted and the trial court's determination should be upheld.

(a

-58-

<u>U.S. v. Vera</u>, 701 F.2d 1349, 1364 (11th Cir. 1983); <u>Roulty v.</u> <u>State</u>, 440 So.2d 1257, 1261 (Fla. 1983); <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1058, 1062 (Fla. 1982); <u>Bova v. State</u>, 392 So.2d 950, 952-3 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 289 So.2d 54 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974).

### e. <u>Appeal to Sense of Morality</u>

Appellant alleges his confession was obtained by appealing to his sense of morality (ASB-11).

Since Appellant equates this "technique" to the "Christian Burial" technique in <u>Brewer v. Williams</u>, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 430 L.Ed.2d 387 (1977), the State submits this argument is refuted by the record and the resolution of the issue is controlled by the holding in <u>Roman v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 1985) where this Court said:

> The use of the "Christian burial technique" by law enforcement personnel is unquestionably a blatantly coercive and deceptive ploy. The record shows however, that the use of this tactic did not directly result in appellant's statement, although we consider it as a factor among the totality of circumstances surrounding the giving of this The record reflects that statement. Appellant was a forty-five year old man intelligence within the normal of range, albeit at the lower end. He did not appear intoxicated or mentally ill at the time. He was read Miranda warnings, was capable of understanding them, and indicated that he did in fact He was offered susunderstand them. tenance and not promised or threaten-He was not handcuffed, and despite ed.

vomiting and trembling seemed alert and perceptive. Under these circumstances we find that the deception was insufficient to make an otherwise voluntary statement inadmissible. <u>See Harris v.</u> <u>State</u>, 438 So,2d 787 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert</u> <u>denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 104 S.Ct. 2181, 80 L.Ed.2d 563 (1984),

Id. 1232-1233. Therefore, under the circumstances of this case, even assuming a deception - - which Appellee is unwilling to accept -- just as in Roman, such "deception" was insufficient to make an otherwise voluntary statement inadmissible. Appellant herein is a college graduate, who fully understood his rights. He requested the conversations with the officers, and enjoyed the "catch me if you can" game he was playing with the officers. The videotapes show Appellant was read his Miranda rights, was capable of undertanding them, and indicated he did in fact understand them. He was offered sustenance and not threatened. In other words there was no atmosphere of coercion surrounding the confession and no reward or implied promise was made. See also, Barnason v. State, supra. There was sufficient evidence in the record to support the trial judge's findings, and this finding should not be disturbed on appeal. Wasko v. State, 505 So.2d 1314, 1316 (Fla. 1987); Albright v. State, 378 So.2d 1234, 1236 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979).

# f. Videotaping of the Confession

Appellant alleges the officers violated his rights by videotaping the conversations of June 3, 6, 7, 8, 18 and 21,

-60-

1984, without first obtaining a search warrant (APB 23-25)

Section 934.03(2)(a)2.(c), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, provides in pertinent part:

> It is lawful under this chapter for law enforcement officer. to intercept a oral communication when such person is a party to the communication or one of the parties to the communication has given prior consent to such interception.

The constitutional protection under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Art. I, 512 of the Florida Constitution does not extend to oral communications where, as in this case, Appellant did not have any expectation of privacy in that he knew that whatever he said to the officers would be used against him in a court of law. No constitutional rights were violated under the facts of the instant case, because under the circumstances even if Appellant had any expectation of privacy, that expectation is not one which society is willing to recognize as reasonable or which society is willing to protect. <u>See Madsen v. State</u>, 13 F.L.W. 58 (Fla. January 28, 1988); <u>State v. Inciarrano</u>, 473 So.2d 1272 (Fla. 1985); <u>Morningstar v. State</u>, 428 So.2d 220 (Fla. 1982), cert denied 464 U.S. 821 (1983).

### 3. <u>Appellant did not request</u> to consult with an attorney.

Appellant alleges he invoked his right to counsel when he requested to speak to Paul Moyle, the assistant state attorney who would be presenting the case to the grand jury. (See APB 11-

-61-

22 and ASB 11-13). These allegations are totally without merit, and rather border on the ridiculous.

Contrary to Appellant's pro se brief at page 11, Appellant was arrested on May 30, 1984 (R 631) and signed the first rights form at 1:10 p.m. before Detective John W. Brady (R 713-715).<sup>5</sup> According to Officer Brady, Appellant acknowledged he understood his rights (R 716), and did not request an attorney (R 717, 724). Officer Brady asserted they gave Appellant a dinner break at 4:30 p.m. (R 725), and then re-advised Appellant of his rights at 5:45 p.m. that night, again without request for an attorney being made (R 725-728). Officer Brady testified Appellant was taken to the jail at 12:30 a.m. May 31, 1984 (R Therefore, Appellant was at the Boca Raton Police 734). Department less than 12 hours, and not 36 hours as alleged. Appellant was taken for first appearance on May 31, 1984 (R 917). Appellant's unfounded allegations were never raised at the trial court, thereby it must be assumed no error was committed, otherwise the argument has been waived.

Citing to <u>U.S. v. Obregon</u>, **748 F.2d 1371** (10th Cir. **1984)**, Appellant assigns error to the police officers' failure to have him sign a "waiver of rights" form in addition to the

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